

2020 Report on Child Marriage in the United States

A National Overview of Child Marriage Data and Law

May 8, 2020

Professor Marci A. Hamilton

Founder, CEO, and Academic Director, CHILD USA

Fox Professor of Practice

University of Pennsylvania

mhamilton@childusa.org

(215) 539-1906

CHILD USA is the leading nonprofit think tank working to end child abuse and neglect in the United States. CHILD USA engages in high-level legal, social science, and medical research and analysis to derive the best public policies to end child abuse and neglect. Distinct from the many organizations engaged in direct service, CHILD USA produces evidence-based solutions and information needed by policymakers, organizations, media, and society to increase child protection and the common good. Our goal is to help millions of children at a time.

© 2020 CHILD USA



Table of Contents

I.	A	An Overview of Child Marriage	5
	A.	A Brief History of Child Marriage	5
]	В.	Current Rates of Child Marriage	7
(C.	Negative Consequences of Child Marriage	8
]	D.	International Child Marriage Law in a Nutshell	10
II.	(Child Marriage in the United States	12
	A.	An Overview of Child Marriage in the United States	12
]	В.	State by State Analysis of Child Marriage Laws	15
	A	Alabama	15
	A	Alaska	15
	A	Arizona	15
	A	Arkansas	16
	(California	16
	(Colorado	16
	(Connecticut	16
	Ι	Delaware	17
	F	Florida	17
	(Georgia	17
	ŀ	Hawaii	18
	I	daho	18
	Ι	llinois	18
	I	ndiana	18
	I	owa	18
	k	Kansas	19
	k	Kentucky	19
	Ι	ouisiana	19
	N	Maine	19
	N	Maryland	20
	N	Massachusetts	20
	N	Aichigan	20
	N	Minnesota	21

Mississippi	21
Missouri	21
Montana	21
Nebraska	21
Nevada	22
New Hampshire	22
New Jersey	22
New Mexico	22
New York	23
North Carolina	23
North Dakota	23
Ohio	23
Oklahoma	24
Oregon	24
Pennsylvania	24
Rhode Island	24
South Carolina	24
South Dakota	25
Tennessee	25
Texas	25
Utah	25
Vermont	26
Virginia	26
Washington	26
West Virginia	26
Wyoming	27
Washington D.C	27
C. Child Marriage Laws in U.S. Territories	27
American Samoa	27
Guam & Northern Marina Islands	27
Puerto Rico	27
U.S. Virgin Islands	28

III.	Conclusion	28
111.	Conclusion	-

I. An Overview of Child Marriage

A. A Brief History of Child Marriage

The tradition of child marriage has changed over time as cultural norms evolved, with the economic concerns of families driving de facto marital rules since the Early Modern era.

Historically, most cultures considered the age of puberty, and the capacity for reproduction, to be the guide for determining a minimum legal age to marry. However, research reveals that, in societies as early as ancient Rome, the actual age of puberty often varied from public belief and consequences for illegally early marriages were typically not imposed. Because marriage's "sole essential characteristic" was the negotiated property exchange between two families, girls were eligible to be married off at the discretion of their families at the start of and prior to menstruation throughout the Middle Ages. Rules were flexible based on the economic needs and desires of families.

Firmer minimum marital ages emerged in Europe as parental authority over their children's marriages waned. Flexible, paternal control over marriage dictated until the thirteenth century when the Roman Catholic Church took over marital regulation and "marriage became a more clearly and rigidly defined institution." Catholic regulation outlawed polygamy, incest, and adultery, declared nonmarital children illegitimate and ineligible to inherit property, diminished the importance of parental consent, and introduced the Roman age of consent at fourteen for boys and twelve for girls. After the Protestant Reformation, the state took over marital regulation and, in an effort to stop young couples from marrying and passing on family property without their parents' approval, voided marriages by individuals under the age of twenty-one who lacked parental consent. The rule "reinforced the centrality of marriage as the institution

through which families controlled property and wealth." Since then, most legal history in Europe placed the 'age of majority,' the legal term for the age at which an individual is considered an adult,⁷ at twenty-one.

In the United States, state marital laws were largely shaped by English common law, and they produced a system in which legal impediments to marriage revolved around parental consent as opposed to strict age minimums for marriage. The "relative ease with which couples can enter legally valid marriages, the presumption in favor of a marriage's validity despite the presence of legal impediments or noncompliance with formalities, and the delegation of a gatekeeping function to parents whose children intend to marry despite having yet to attain the presumptive age of consent," were all characteristics of early English common law that were persevered in the American legal system.⁸ These marital laws gave parents the ability to police their children's marriages while their children were under the 'age of majority.' While there were marital age of consent laws, noncompliant marriages were generally extended legal recognition as 'common law marriages,' and judges increasingly relaxed evidence requirements needed to show their existence. Despite these irregularities, the universal age of majority in America remained at age twenty-one until World War II needs prompted Congress to lower it to eighteen; the Act contained provisions that explicitly permitted marriages below eighteen with parental and judicial consent.¹⁰ Throughout the years, age of consent laws consistently prioritized parental control of marriages instead of elevating child protection, and statutes contained loopholes allowing for approved child marriages.

B. Current Rates of Child Marriage

Today, rates of child marriage are high across the globe. According to UNICEF, fifteen million girls are married before their eighteenth birthday every year, which amounts to approximately 41,000 child brides per day.¹¹ In developing countries, the rates of child marriage are worse: 1 in 3 girls get married by age eighteen and 1 in 9 girls get married by age fifteen.¹² Worldwide, approximately 650 million women and girls alive today were married before they turned eighteen.¹³ For males, a study analyzing data from 82 countries found that approximately 1 in 30 boys get married as children.¹⁴ UNICEF estimated that 115 million boys and men alive today were married before they turned eighteen. This brings the total number of child brides and grooms worldwide to 765 million.¹⁵

In the United States, child marriage remains a pervasive issue. A 2018 study analyzing marriage license data from 41 states found that at over 200,000 minors, 87% girls and 13% boys, were married in the United States between 2000 and 2015. A different study, looking at the mental health of child brides in America, estimated between 8.9% and 11.96% of women are married as minors in the United States. While the general public often assumes that child marriage is issue that doesn't pertain to America, it is widespread across the country today.

Across cultures, various factors contribute to the high prevalence of child marriage; drivers include gender inequality, cultural tradition, poverty, and economic/social insecurity.¹⁸

Together, these factors fuel and sustain high rates of the practice worldwide. In cultures with patriarchal values, there is often a large emphasis placed on controlling the sexuality and virginity of daughters.¹⁹ Compounded with the social and economic profits that accompany child marriages, these attitudes incentivize the marriage of young girls over generations. In more

impoverished countries, marrying off girls is seen as a financial solution to secure the future of both the family and the girls themselves.²⁰ In fact, "more than half of girls from the poorest families in the developing world are married as children."²¹ In many of these cultures, families view an investment in their son's education are more valuable than an investment in their daughter's education, and they use the marriage of young girls as a means to lessen the economic burden on the family, repay debts, manage disputes, and form social, political, and economic alliances.²² Periods of social and economic insecurity also catalyze child marriage, evidenced by the fact that child marriage rates increase during times of conflict and humanitarian crises.²³ Of the ten countries with the highest child marriage rates worldwide, nine are considered fragile states. These factors and more coalesce to contribute to the ongoing, global issue of child marriage.

C. Negative Consequences of Child Marriage

Child marriage triggers severe negative health effects in victims of child marriage and their subsequent offspring. The risk of death spikes for individuals who are victims of child marriage. Girls who marry under the age of fifteen are five times as likely to die during pregnancy and childbirth than adult women, and 70,000 adolescents die annually in developing countries as a result of child marriage.²⁴ According to the World Health Organization, the leading cause of death globally for girls between the ages of fifteen and nineteen is complications from pregnancy and childbirth.²⁵ In addition to the increased risk of death, child mothers face heightened risks of getting serious health conditions like obstetric fistula, a debilitating condition that renders girls incontinent and often results in the death of the baby within the first week of life,²⁶ and sexually transmitted infections and diseases.²⁷ A study in Kenya and Zambia found that girls married

between the ages of 15 and 19 were 75% more likely to contract HIV than sexually active, unmarried girls of the same age. ²⁸ Child brides are also more likely to face sexual, physical, and emotional abuse. ²⁹ In India, a study by the International Center for Research on Women found that girls who married before age 18 faced physical violence twice as often and sexual violence three times as often as girls who married after their eighteenth birthday. ³⁰ Life-threatening health effects also plague infants and children born out of child marriages. Stillbirths and newborn deaths are 50% higher among offspring of child mothers than offspring of mothers between the ages of 20 and 29. ³¹

Child marriage also results in developmental consequences bearing individual and societal costs, both socially and economically. Victims of child marriage face increased educational obstacles that impact the rest of their lives. In some nations, "there is evidence of almost a binary option of either going to school or getting married early." So, as young girls enter marriages, they are significantly less likely to receive education and the countless, life-changing benefits that follow. For girls, increased educational attainment contributes to fewer child births, increased lifetime earnings, improved household income, reduced likelihood of experience intimate partner violence, and increased decision-making ability. Thus, the consequences of diminished educational attainment for girls due to child marriage entrench gender inequality. A 2006 study found that eliminating child marriage and early pregnancies could potentially reduce the gender gap in education by about half. There is also a larger economic impact: reduced female earnings combined with the extreme fertility and population growth consequences of child marriage have a ripple effect that impacts the global economy and the intergenerational transmission of poverty. Research shows that "if child marriage had ended in 2015, the global

economy could have saved \$566 billion by 2030."³⁶ In addition to being a dire social issue, child marriage is also a deeply economic one.

D. International Child Marriage Law in a Nutshell

Child marriage has received international condemnation, and the United Nations has made an active effort to limit it across the globe. Until 2015, two major international law treaties served as the foundation of the international condemnation of child marriage as a violation of human rights: The Convention on the Rights of the Child ("CRC")³⁷ and the Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women ("CEDAW"). 38 The CDC, considered one of the most universally endorsed and ratified treaties in history, defined all humans below the age of eighteen as children.³⁹ Together, the conventions internationally denounce the practice of child marriage. In 2015, the UN Sustainable Development Goals ("SDGs"), a set of goals considered to be "the crowning achievement of the development agenda," went further and highlighted child marriage as a threat to global development.⁴⁰ The SDGs incorporated the primary aims of both the CRC and the CEDAW, and it called for the elimination of "all harmful practices, such as child, early and forced marriage and female genital mutilations" in SDG No. 5.3.⁴¹ The call to action has been ongoing; the UN General Assembly has since passed three separate resolutions calling for UN Member States to strengthen and accelerate action to address child, early and forced marriage in 2014, 2016, and 2018. 42

Despite international efforts to end child marriage, cultural and religious exemptions to child marriage laws facilitate its continuation. Many countries allow exceptions to minimum marital ages when there is parental consent, court authorization, or customary or religious laws that take precedence over national law.⁴³ Most of these exceptions reflect deep-rooted gender inequality,

a dynamic that makes child marriage disproportionately harm girls and women. An analysis by the World Policy Analysis Center found that 93 countries legally allow for girls to marry before the age of eighteen and 54 countries allow for girls to marry 1 to 3 years younger than boys. 44 These legal frameworks reinforce existing gender inequalities. Religion is often put forward as a reason to allow child marriages, even though the UN Population Fund asserts that "there are no major religious traditions that require child marriage," and "it would be wrong to say that child marriage warrants protection as a cultural or religious practice." Some countries have different age requirements based on religious affiliation. For example, in the Philippines, the minimum age to marry is twenty-one, but Muslim boys can marry at fifteen and Muslim girls can marry at puberty. Religious and cultural exemptions to marital age of consent laws are common across the globe. The Pew Research Center identified at least 117 nations that allow children to marry through these kinds of legal loopholes.

EXEMPTION NO EXEMPTION/NO DATA

Most countries have some form of exemption to their legal minimum marriage age

Note: Most exemptions involve requiring courts or parents to give permission for a child to marry.

Source: Pew Research Center analysis of U.S. State Department country reports on human rights practices for 2015.

Supplemental data taken from the United Nations Population Fund. U.S. data taken from Cornell University Law School Legal Information Institute.

PEW RESEARCH CENTER

II. Child Marriage in the United States

A. An Overview of Child Marriage in the United States

Child marriage is a pervasive issue in the United States with devastating domestic consequences. Approximately 40 children are married each day in the United States.⁴⁷ Child marriage advocacy group, Unchained At Last, estimates that 248,000 children were married in America between 2000 and 2010,⁴⁸ and marriage license data shows that at least three states granted 12-year-olds marriage licenses and at least 14 states granted 13-year-olds marriage licenses during that period.⁴⁹ The problem is vast, and mounting U.S.-based evidence reflects the consequences of child marriage in America. Between 70% and 80% of marriages involving a child in the U.S. end in divorce, and child marriage followed by divorce doubles the likelihood that child mothers will descend into poverty.⁵⁰ Girls in the U.S. who marry before the age of 19 are also 50% more likely to drop out of high school and four times less likely to graduate from college.⁵¹ From a health perspective, studies show that victims of child marriage in the U.S. are acutely vulnerable to higher rates of psychiatric disorders⁵² as well as physical, emotional, or verbal abuse.⁵³ Like the global consequences of child marriage, the domestic consequences carry with them tremendous intergenerational and societal costs for America.⁵⁴

Despite the persisting issue of child marriage, there has been a consistent failure by the American government to take federal action to confront the problem. On one hand, the U.S. Congress failed to ratify the two UN conventions that are the bedrock of international denunciation of child marriage. America is one of only three countries to not have ratified the CRC.⁵⁵ It also stands alone as the only country in the Western hemisphere, and the only industrialized democracy, that has not ratified the CEDAW.⁵⁶ On the other hand, there is no

federal law banning child marriage in America.⁵⁷ As a result, child marriage is governed by the states under our federalist legal structure.

State autonomy over the issue of child marriage makes it difficult to curtail. Among other things, states set different minimum age laws. So, while states like Delaware and New Jersey have universally banned child marriage, 58 states with more lenient laws consistently approve marriages involving children under the age of eighteen. For example, Missouri is known as a 'destination wedding spot' for child brides. A *The Kansas City Star* report found evidence of individuals rushing to the state to marry fifteen-year-old brides; "some traveled up to 1,800 miles to Missouri, from as far off as Oregon, Idaho, Utah, Florida and every other state in the region." The decentralized system creates a legal framework in which certain states strongly protect against child marriage while others facilitate the practice. Absent federal action outlawing child marriage, most state laws still offer various avenues through which child marriage persists.

State child marriage laws are fraught with legal loopholes, and the lack of the following characteristics in state laws allow child marriage to occur across the country: age floors, proof of age requirements, and residency requirements. State laws lacking an age floor open the door widely for child marriage. Most states' laws set the age of consent for marriage at eighteen but allow an array of exceptions to the rule.⁶⁰ Without an age floor, a child of any age can be issued a marriage license as long as exceptions are met. Age floors with no exceptions are one of the best ways to prevent child marriage in the United States. Even with such age protections, however, laws lacking proof of age requirements still create child marriage loopholes. Marriage license data shows that, even in states with age floors, impermissibly young children have been

married because proof of age was not required.⁶¹ Similarly, laws that lack residency requirements allow individuals to circumvent strong age protections against child marriage. Without residency requirements, individuals can cross state lines to engage in child marriage. This is how 'destination wedding spots' for child marriage emerge.

Parental and judicial consent exceptions to state child marriage laws also facilitate child marriage in America; both exceptions make adults gatekeepers to the marriage of children and sacrifice child protection. Parent consent exceptions "post one of the greatest concerns with respect to forced marriages, since parental consent can so easily equal parental coercion."62 Yet. consent by at least one parent is often enough to acquire a license for a marriage involving a child. Even when parental consent isn't on its own enough for approval of child marriage, it often drives the outcome in judicial approval processes instead of the wishes of the minor.⁶³ Consistently, adults prefer and protect the desires of other adults instead of children. This occurs in the context of judicial consent exceptions as well. In an variety of ways, assigning judges the responsibility for approving marriages involving minors is problematic. Judges generally lack knowledge about the intricacies of child marriage, coercive control, and intimate partner violence that are at play in these situations. ⁶⁴ They also lack the experience, training, and resources needed to conduct sufficiently diligent inquires that may be necessary to evaluate cases. 65 Both parental and judicial consent can be motivated by factors other than the wellbeing of the child, and child marriage exceptions that hinge on such consent puts children in danger.

Beyond legal loopholes, unofficial marriages are another avenue through which child marriage persists in the United States. These unofficial marriages take several forms including conjugal cohabitation, marriage by adoption, and marriage by contract. Conjugal cohabitation

occurs when the marital parties reside together but never obtain a marriage license through the state, much like a common law marriage. Marriage by adoption occurs when an elder spouse adopts the younger in order to gain legal rights and protections and still avoid laws prohibiting child marriage. Finally, marriage by contract occurs when a parent contracts on behalf of their underage child and promises that the child will wed the other party once they achieve the 'age of majority.' Some of these unofficial marriages are never registered, and others are registered once a child reaches the legal age. Still, even when the union exists outside the legal bounds of marriage, children endure the harms inflicted by the practice.

B. State by State Analysis of Child Marriage Laws

Alabama

Since 2000, Alabama has had the 4th highest number of total child marriages in the nation, with 8,600 marriages occurring in the state between 2000 and 2015, including the marriage of a fourteen-year-old girl to a seventy-four-year-old man.⁶⁶ While the law changed in 2003 to raise the minimum age from fourteen to sixteen, the practice has still been tracked at rates of nearly 5% as recently as 2014.⁶⁷ In Alabama, no pregnancy exception exists and a child under sixteen now cannot enter into a marriage under any circumstances; sixteen and seventeen-year-olds can marry with parental consent.⁶⁸ There has been no further legislative action against child marriage.

Alaska

Alaska permits a child to marry at age sixteen or seventeen with parental consent.⁶⁹ Children as young as fourteen can marry if a judge determines the marriage to be in the "best interests" of the minor and there is parental consent, the parents are "unreasonably" withholding consent, or the parents are unable to give consent for some other reason.⁷⁰ In early 2018, State Senator Berta Gardner introduced HB 310 which aimed to prohibit marriage under eighteen and only allowed marriage for emancipated minors over sixteen.⁷¹ The bill was referred to the State Affairs and Judiciary committees, but no further progress has been made.⁷² Despite this, Alaska still boasts the lowest rates of child marriage in the United States.⁷³

Arizona

Arizona updated its child marriage law in 2018.⁷⁴ Arizona's law now bans marriage entirely for children below the age of sixteen, and it allows sixteen and seventeen-year-olds to marry only if they are emancipated or have parental consent. In these cases, Arizona law *also* requires an age

difference of no more than three years between marital parties.⁷⁵ Prior to 2018, sixteen and seventeen-year-old children could marry with just parental consent, and children under sixteen could marry with parental consent and judicial consent.⁷⁶

Arkansas

In April 2019, Arkansas Governor Asa Hutchinson signed into law HB 1708, which bans marriage for those under seventeen unless the child is at least sixteen and pregnant. Arkansas previously allowed boys to marry at seventeen and girls at sixteen with parental consent. This difference in minimum age exemplifies the gendered nature of child marriage practices. However, as of July 2019 when HB 1708 came into effect, the age was raised to seventeen for both boys and girls. Arkansas maintains a pregnancy exception, permitting children over sixteen but under eighteen to marry with proof of pregnancy *and* parental consent. If the underage child had already given birth, the court may still authorize a marriage if it believes the marriage would be in the "best interests" of the parties.

California

In 2018, California state Senator Jerry Hill drafted a bill aimed at prohibiting marriage for all individuals under eighteen years of age.⁸² The legislation passed, but the law still allows any person under the age of eighteen to marry with the consent of at least one parent.⁸³ California imposes additional requirements on the parties for child marriage, including mandatory interviews of the parties, considerations of a number of factors, requests for premarital counseling if deemed necessary, and other surmountable hurdles.⁸⁴ Nevertheless, California law permits children to marry as young as zero, and the legal barriers fail to function as significant hindrances to the practice of child marriage. No other legislation is currently pending.

Colorado

In Colorado, the law previously allowed sixteen and seventeen-year-olds to marry with parental consent and allowed children under sixteen to marry with parental and judicial consent. State Rep. Chris Hansen introduced HB1316 in 2019, which prohibits marriage entirely under age sixteen and adds the additional requirement of judicial approval for sixteen and seventeen-year-olds seeking to marry. The bill was signed by Governor Polis and enacted in May 2019. In March 2019, HB1251 was introduced with the aim of increasing the age of marriage to eighteen years and only allowing an exception for emancipated minors. The bill failed.

Connecticut

Connecticut's family law places the legal age of marriage at eighteen, but minors sixteen and over can be married with parental consent *and* the authorization of a probate judge located in the district where the minor resides.⁸⁹ Until October 1, 2017, judicial approval was not required for minors over sixteen; they only needed parental consent.⁹⁰ Additionally, minors could be married under the age of sixteen if the probate judge for the district in which the minor resided provided his or

her written authorization on the marriage license. While Connecticut has yet to raise the marriage age to eighteen without exception, it is one of several states with an un-waivable residency requirement for minors petitioning for a marriage license. This un-waivable residency requirement ensures minors cannot be taken across state lines to marry in Connecticut; they must be a resident of the state and district in which they are requesting a marriage license. In 2017, HB5442 was proposed in the State House, which aimed to end marriage of those under eighteen. In support of the bill, one woman offered her testimony, where she shared her story of child marriage: she was engaged at eight years old and married at fifteen and stated, "I lost my youth and my mental health is just not the same. The happy go lucky little girl is gone. I can go months now without laughing. He robbed me of my childhood... It should not be legal to marry off your child under eighteen in any state." The enacted version of the bill maintained the exception for those over sixteen. In January of 2019, state Senator Matt Lesser introduced a similar bill in the State Senate to end child marriage for any children under the age of eighteen, without exception, but the bill was vetoed in June 2019.

Delaware

Delaware successfully banned child marriage in June 2018 and became the first state to fully ban child marriage in the United States.⁹⁷ Prior to 2018, children under eighteen could marry when their parents petitioned the court with an order.⁹⁸ Delaware already had one of the lowest rates of child marriage as of 2014, and, with the passage of this new law, child marriage rates in the state should reach 0% of children legally married.

Florida

Florida began prohibiting marriage for all children under the age of seventeen in March 2018 when the state passed SB140.⁹⁹ The law permits seventeen-year-olds to marry only if there is parental consent and an age difference of two years or less between the parties.¹⁰⁰ While no action has been taken to further limit child marriage, this change did result in a drop in overall child marriage; between July and December of 2017 prior to the law change, there were 125 marriages involving children, and between that same time period in 2018 after the law change, there were only 48 marriages.¹⁰¹

Georgia

Georgia previously permitted children to marry as young as sixteen with parental consent. In March 2019, HB228 passed the State Senate with unanimous support, which changed the law to permit only emancipated seventeen-year-olds to marry. Further, the law requires the older party be no more than four years the child's senior, and both parties must present certification of completed premarital education. The law became effective in July 2019. No further legislative action has been taken.

Hawaii

Hawaii permits children to marry at sixteen with parental consent; fifteen-year-olds may marry if they also acquire judicial consent. No children are permitted to marry under fifteen under any circumstances. In January 2019, SB419 and HB790 were introduced, both of which aim to ban child marriage entirely; both bills were referred to and currently sit in committee.

Idaho

Idaho law allows minors to marry at sixteen with parental consent, and it allows minors to marry younger with both parental consent and judicial approval. Judges are required to consider an expert opinion from a physician as to whether the minor is physically and mentally able to "assume full martial duties" before providing their consent. Proposed and rejected in February 2019, H0098 would have limited the age difference to three years for all underage marriages, but still permit sixteen and seventeen-year-olds to marry with parental consent and with an additional requirement of judicial consent. No further legislation has been proposed, but State Rep. Melissa Wintrow aims to keep the issue in the forefront.

Illinois

Illinois allows children sixteen and older to marry with parental consent from both parents *or* judicial consent. Although Illinois has no pending bills to amend their child marriage laws, U.S. Rep. Bobby Rush (D-Ill.) introduced in the Federal House of Representatives the "Child Marriage Prevention Act" in early 2018. The bill, currently sitting in committee, aims to end child marriage nationally. 114

Indiana

Indiana has not amended its child marriage laws in over two decades. ¹¹⁵ Indiana allows marriage for seventeen-year-olds with parental consent. ¹¹⁶ The state allows children as young as fifteen to marry with both parental consent *and* court approval *if* the girl is pregnant, regardless of whether the pregnancy resulted from rape. ¹¹⁷ There is currently no pending legislation to raise the minimum age or close loopholes.

Iowa

Children in Iowa may be married as young as sixteen with parental consent *and* court approval.¹¹⁸ A judge can *override* a lack of parental consent if they determine consent was "unreasonably" withheld.¹¹⁹ Such a loophole raises concerns of subjective standards. The law grants significant power to a district court judge to decide whether the parties appear capable of assuming the responsibilities of marriage and whether the marriage serves the "best interest" of the child(ren).¹²⁰ Furthermore, proof of age is not required at the time of marriage. Marriages of parties later found to be under eighteen remain valid, although voidable. A party that falsely represented their age in

order to marry can void the marriage by presenting a birth certificate before their eighteenth birthday. 121 It does not appear any legislation regarding child marriage has been proposed yet.

Kansas

In Kansas, children are able to marry as young as sixteen with parental or judicial consent. Children can marry as young as fifteen if the court consents after due investigation finding that the marriage is in the "best interest" of the child. There is currently no pending legislation to limit or eliminate child marriage in the state.

Kentucky

In spring 2018, Kentucky amended their laws pertaining to child marriage by passing SB48. Let Kentucky passed laws similar to Tennessee which bans child marriage for children under the age of seventeen and only allows seventeen-year-olds to marry with parental consent, provided the age difference between parties is less than four years. Of note, the law also requires proof of high school completion or the equivalent, among other restrictions, before a marriage license may be issued. Let

Louisiana

Prior to 2019, children could marry in Louisiana at sixteen with parental consent and children younger than sixteen were able to marry with both parental and judicial consent. Louisiana state Senator Karen Carter Peterson introduced SB463 in March 2018 to ban child marriage in Louisiana; however, this bill was effectively killed after being indefinitely postponed. In June 2019, both the State House and Senate voted to pass a bill that would eliminate exceptions for marriage under age sixteen. Signed by the Governor in June and effective in August, the new law allows sixteen and seventeen-year-olds to marry individuals no more than three years their senior when they have both judicial *and* parental consent.

Maine

Maine's Domestic Relations statutes provide that parties must be eighteen to marry but allows children as young as sixteen to marry if they provide parental consent. Children under sixteen may also marry, provided they obtain both parental *and* judicial consent. The probate judge must take into consideration the "best interests" of the child, the age difference between parties, and the criminal record of any adult party before providing consent. Maine's law on child marriage is very similar to Connecticut: like Connecticut, Maine is one of several states that has un-waivable residency requirements for minors petitioning for marriage. Even with their loopholes, fewer than 4 out of every 1,000 children are married in the state of Maine, one of the lowest rates of child marriage in the nation. In January 2019, State Legislatures proposed "An Act to End Child Marriage," which would remove the ability for children to marry under sixteen under any circumstances. In June 2019, both the State House and Senate voted to enact the bill into law.

Because the Governor did not sign or veto the bill, it went into effect without her signature on January 12, 2020. 137

Maryland

Since 2016, Delegate Vanessa Atterbeary has annually proposed a bill banning child marriage in Maryland, with her fourth failed attempt in April 2019. In Maryland, fifteen-year-olds can marry with parental consent if pregnant or if they have already given birth to a child, and children sixteen and older can marry with parental consent or without parental consent if pregnant. 139

Massachusetts

The law in Massachusetts currently allows children to marry under eighteen with parental consent from each parent living in Massachusetts, or consent of a legal guardian. ¹⁴⁰ Unlike other states, Massachusetts has no minimum age requirement for this exception, effectively setting the minimum age at zero.¹⁴¹ Between 2010 and 2014, nearly 200 children were married in Massachusetts. 85% of these were girls, and they mostly married older men. 142 Between 2010 and 2014, seventeen-year-old girls were permitted to marry men as old as thirty-nine, and fifteenyear-olds were permitted to marry men in their mid-twenties. 143 Nearly one third of these child marriages between 2010 and 2014 occurred in Springfield and Worcester. ¹⁴⁴ The latest records from the Department of Public Health found that nearly 1,200 children were married between 2000 and 2016, indicating child marriage is still a common practice in the state. ¹⁴⁵ In response to this crisis, State Senator Harriette Chandler (D-Worcester) proposed a bill in the 2017-2018 legislative session to ban child marriage in Massachusetts, without exception. ¹⁴⁶ This bill was placed under review in March 2018, effectively tabling the bill indefinitely. 147 Chandler, along with State Rep. Kay Khan, reintroduced S.24 in January 2019. A second draft of the bill, S.2294, passed unanimously in the State Senate and, upon sending to the State House, was referred to the committee on House Ways and Means, where it currently sits awaiting further action. 148

Michigan

Tied for the third highest child marriage rate in the Midwest, Michigan would greatly benefit from a bill banning child marriage outright. The current law, last amended in 2007, only requires consent from one parent to legitimize the marriage of a child under eighteen. Children under the age of sixteen may marry with judicial consent from the probate judge. State Senators Rick Jones and Margaret O'Brien introduced SB1255 and SB1256 in November 2018, which both aimed to end child marriage. Both bills passed the Senate Judiciary committee but died at the end of session in December. Rep. Sarah Anthony, Rep. Graham Filler, and Rep. Kara Hope proposed three new bills in January of 2019—HB4003, HB4004, and HB4005—which attempt to end child marriage entirely. All three were referred to the Committee on Judiciary in January 2019 and have not seen further progress.

Minnesota

Before 2020, Minnesota law allowed sixteen-year-olds to may marry with parental consent.¹⁵⁴ In February 2019, Rep. Kaohly Her introduced a bill in the State House to ban marriage in Minnesota for children under the age of eighteen.¹⁵⁵ HF 745 passed the House and the Senate before being signed into law by the Govenor.¹⁵⁶

Mississippi

Mississippi's marriage laws are unique in that parental consent is required for children under the age of twenty-one for both males and females; however, with parental consent, girls can marry as young as fifteen and boys can marry as young as seventeen. Judges have the discretion to approve marriages for children even younger than these age requirements, which effectively lowers the minimum age for marriage to zero, so long as there is parental consent.

Missouri

Missouri has passed legislation that limits its previous child marriage laws; still though, loopholes persist. In 2018, Missouri revised their law to raise the minimum age to marry to sixteen. Child marriage is still allowed with parental consent for sixteen and seventeen-year-olds seeking to marry, provided there is an age-gap of no more than four years. Prior to the passage of this new law, Missouri was a destination wedding spot for girls under sixteen. In just one example, in August 2015 a father from Idaho drove his then fifteen-year-old daughter over one thousand miles to Kansas City, MO to marry her twenty-four-year-old rapist. When the girl was just fourteen, the man, ten years her senior, got her drunk and raped her, resulting in pregnancy. After the wedding, both the husband and father were arrested in Idaho. The man was convicted of rape and the father convicted of felony injury of a child. This is just one story; between 2000 and 2014, over 7,000 minors were married in the state, 85% of which were young girls.

Montana

Montana allows sixteen and seventeen-year-olds to marry with parental (or judicial, if no parents are able) consent, but marriage under age sixteen is banned entirely. In February 2019, state Rep. Jessica Karjala introduced HB533 that would end child marriage under eighteen but the bill was tabled in committee less than a month later, rendering it effectively dead for the session. In the session of the session.

Nebraska

Nebraska is one of the three states with the lowest rates of child marriage in the Midwest, alongside North and South Dakota. Nebraska requires children to be at least seventeen to marry, and even then, children may only marry with parental consent. Nebraska's age of majority for marriage is nineteen, which requires consent at eighteen as well. There is currently no pending legislation to further limit child marriage.

Nevada

Nevada has laws similar to Colorado, New Mexico and Wyoming that allow sixteen and seventeen-year-olds to marry with parental consent and allow children under sixteen to marry with judicial consent. In June 2019, the Governor of Nevada signed into law AB139. As enacted, the bill permits seventeen-year-olds to marry with both parental and judicial approval, and it only allows marriage under seventeen in extraordinary circumstances, if, after an evidentiary hearing where both parties provide sworn testimony, the judge finds that the marriage is in the minor's best interest. In the interest in the minor's best interest.

Nevada is home to many different religions and religious sects, and it is believed that this is part of the reason why the rate of child marriage in Nevada is the highest in this region. Approximately six out of every 1,000 children will be married in Nevada.¹⁷¹

New Hampshire

In 2019, New Hampshire signed into law a bill that banned marriage for those under sixteen and rendered any marriage contracted into by a child under sixteen null and void. Until January 2019, New Hampshire law allowed girls as young as thirteen and males as young as fourteen to marry. Governor Chris Sununu signed the bill changing the minimum age. The law still permits marriage for minors between sixteen and eighteen with parental consent. State Rep. Cassandra Levesque, who at seventeen successfully pushed as a private citizen to change the minimum age to sixteen and was elected to office at nineteen, introduced HB 378, which would ban child marriage for anyone under the age of eighteen, without exception. However, the bill was tabled in March 2019 and effectively died at the end of the legislative session. Rep. Levesque reintroduced the bill in 2020 as HB1516; the bill was referred to the Children and Family Law committee, where it currently sits awaiting further action.

New Jersey

New Jersey also recently against child marriage in the form of Senate Bill S427, which substituted Bill A865. In June 2018, New Jersey became the second state in the nation, after Delaware, to ban marriage for children under the age of eighteen without exception. Before 2018, a minor could be married as long as their parents gave consent in front of two witnesses. They could also be married under the age of 16 if a judge provided judicial consent.

New Mexico

The law in New Mexico allows sixteen and seventeen-year-olds to marry with parental consent.¹⁸¹ Those under sixteen-can marry with judicial consent after parental request, or if they are pregnant.¹⁸² There is no legislation pending to limit or ban child marriage in New Mexico.

New York

Following the national trend against child marriage, New York enacted legislation in 2017 that banned marriage for children under the age of seventeen. Now, seventeen-year-olds may marry *only* with judicial consent. Previously, children had been permitted to marry as young as fourteen with both parental and judicial consent. According to state census data reported in the New York Times, in 2011 a fourteen-year-old girl married a twenty-six-year-old man, a fifteen-year-old married a twenty-eight-year-old, and two other fifteen-year-olds married individuals ten to twenty years their senior. The judicial exception allowed each of these marriages. Fortunately, this new law prevents judges from permitting such marriages of children in the future. In 2019, New York introduced a bill, A8447, that aims to increase the age of marriage to eighteen years. On January 8, 2020, the bill was referred to the judiciary committee.

North Carolina

In North Carolina, children as young as sixteen can marry with parental consent. Like Arkansas, the state maintains a pregnancy exception that allows children to marry as young as fourteen with judicial consent. In these cases, the judge is instructed to consider whether parents consented to the marriage in deciding whether the marriage is in the child's best interest. There is currently no legislation being proposed to address child marriage.

North Dakota

North Dakota has the second lowest rate of child marriage in the Midwest at 2.9%, but it permits children aged sixteen and seventeen to marry with parental consent. The law does not permit marriages involving children under the age of sixteen, under any circumstance. There is no current pending legislation.

Ohio

In Ohio, two bills concerning child marriage have been introduced since 2017: the first sought to ban all marriage for children under eighteen; the second sought to ban all child marriage but maintained an exception for seventeen-year-olds to marry with judicial approval, provided the age difference is no more than four years. The latter, the least restrictive of the two, was signed into law by Governor Kasich in 2019. However, it contains a pregnancy exception under a separate section of the law, the Rules of Juvenile Procedures. Ohio domestic relations law now resembles New York's 2017 amendments, but with the Juvenile Procedure Rules pregnancy loophole there are still significant differences. Prior to this overhaul, a minor of any age needed only the consent of a parent or custodian to be married. Between 2000 and 2015, over 4,400 girls were married in the state, often with substantial age differences between the spouses. In 2002, a fourteen year-old girl was married to a forty-eight year-old man with court approval following a pregnancy. Even though the couple remained married, a judge hearing the case remarked that a criminal investigation should have been conducted against the man with regard to the girl's pregnancy. Ohio's new law should prevent marriages like this one, although the state has yet to ban child marriage completely.

Oklahoma

Oklahoma law allows children sixteen and older to marry with parental consent, and it provides for a pregnancy exception that permits pregnant children to marry under sixteen with the consent of just one parent. The law also provides an exception for those under sixteen when the marriage is in settlement of a suit for seduction or paternity. There has not been legislative action to prohibit child marriage.

Oregon

Oregon permits child marriage for seventeen-year-olds with parental consent.²⁰⁰ In January 2019, HB2767 was introduced to the Oregon legislature intending to ban child marriage outright; the bill currently sits in committee.²⁰¹

Pennsylvania

Historically, Pennsylvania allowed marriage for children sixteen and older with parental consent. Children fifteen and younger could marry with judicial consent if the court determined the marriage to be in the "best interests" of the child. However, in 2020, local lawmakers followed the example set by neighboring states, New Jersey and Delaware, and enactedd legislation that closed these loopholes. A bill introduced to ban the practice of child marriage died following the 2018 legislative session. In June 2019, a new bill banning child marriage passed the State House unanimously and currently sits in the State Senate Judiciary committee. In October 2019, the State Senate unanimously passed a similar pill banning marriage under eighteen with no exceptions and sent the bill to the House. HB360 was referred to the Senate Judiciary Committee on February 4, 2020²⁰⁶ and SB81 has not seen any further action since January 23, 2019. HB 360 successfully passed in the Senate and was signed by Governor Tom Wolf on May 8, 2020.

Rhode Island

In Rhode Island, for children who are sixteen or seventeen, the child must provide parental consent in order to marry. Rhode Island, however, imposed additional requirements: proof of age and residency. Children under sixteen may marry if they have parental consent, proof of age and residency, and obtain approval from the court after a hearing. As of publication, Rhode Island has not taken any action to further restrict or eliminate child marriage in the state.

South Carolina

South Carolina has one of the lowest rates of child marriage in the South and has multiple bills pending.²¹¹ In 2019, South Carolina repealed the pregnancy exception and banned all marriages under the age of sixteen.²¹² Children ages sixteen and seventeen can marry with the consent of a parent or guardian if they are still living with them.²¹³ Another bill, which currently sits in committee, aims to ban child marriage without exception.²¹⁴ Over 7,000 underage girls were

married in South Carolina over the past two decades, with some as young as twelve.²¹⁵ Since the late 1990's, dozens of men in their forties, fifties, and sixties have married girls under the age of eighteen in the state.²¹⁶

South Dakota

South Dakota has the lowest rate of child marriage in the Midwest at 2.8%, and it has a law almost identical to North Dakota except that consent is only required from one parent. North and South Dakota have not only the lowest rates of child marriage in the Midwest, but also among the lowest rates in the nation. There is no further legislation.

Tennessee

In May 2018, Tennessee passed HB2134 which banned child marriage for children under the age of seventeen. Seventeen-year-olds can marry only with parental consent, provided the age difference between the two parties is no more than four years. The story of Donna Pollard exemplifies the need for such improvement to legislation. At fourteen-years-old, she was checked into a mental health facility in Indiana. Just two years later, she dropped out of school to marry one of her counselors at the facility, a then thirty-one-year-old man, in Tennessee. Later, seeking to escape his abuse with her young daughter, now sixteen-year-old Donna was too young to sign an apartment lease. Marriage renders a child ineligible for protective services, and many shelters were only open to women over eighteen. With no education, no job, and no family to support her, Donna had no option but to live with her abuser until her eighteenth birthday. In Tennessee, Donna was old enough to sign a marriage license, theoretically binding herself for life to a man, but was not old enough to sign an apartment lease for six months. There is no further legislative action to prohibit marriage under eighteen entirely.

Texas

Texas passed a law in 2017 banning child marriage for children under eighteen.²²⁵ However, the law still provides an exception that allows emancipated minors to marry.²²⁶ Prior to 2017, sixteen and seventeen-years-old's could marry with parental consent; a minor also had permission to petition the court for the right to get married.²²⁷ There has been no further legislative action in Texas.

Utah

In Utah, children could previously marry as young as sixteen with parental consent and as young as fifteen with both parental and judicial consent.²²⁸ While the law in Utah provided that children could not marry younger than fifteen, informal marriages within some religious cults frequently wed children much younger. For example, two Utah men married each other's seven and eight-year-old daughters.²²⁹ The men were leaders of the Knights of Crystal Blade, a doomsday cult offshoot of Mormonism, and hid the two girls from law enforcement in water barrels after one of their ex-wives alerted authorities of a kidnapping.²³⁰ One of the men, Samuel Shaffer, stated he

"sincerely believed that child marriage was a correct principle from God," illustrating how perpetrators frequently attempt to use religion as a shield from criticism.²³¹ An all-out child marriage ban, better enforcement, and cultural shifts will help prevent harmful child unions like these. In March 2019, the Governor signed into law HB234, which amended the child marriage laws to allow sixteen and seventeen-year-olds to marry only if they have both parental and judicial consent.²³²

Vermont

Vermont now prohibits marriage of any child under the age of sixteen, for any reason, regardless of parental consent.²³³ However, like many other states, children between sixteen and seventeen can marry with parental consent.²³⁴ Vermont's child marriage rate of 3.7% is higher than the rates of several of its neighboring states.²³⁵ 221 residents of Vermont between the ages of fifteen and seventeen were married between 2000 and 2016, and 84% of the minor parties were girls.²³⁶ While legislators in Vermont are considering revisions to the child marriage laws, no changes have been made.²³⁷ State Rep. Carol Ode introduced a bill aimed at ending all marriage for individuals under eighteen in January 2018. The bill was referred to their judiciary committee, but no further action has been taken since then.²³⁸

Virginia

Prior to 2016, a child in Virginia could get married at age sixteen with the consent of a parent. A pregnancy exception also existed for parties under age sixteen. ²³⁹ In March 2016, Virginia passed HB703/SB415, a law like Georgia's, which allows emancipated minors to marry at sixteen or older. ²⁴⁰ There has been no further legislative action.

Washington

Washington permits children to marry under seventeen with judicial consent, provided that they demonstrate necessity to a judge in the county of the minor's residence, or at seventeen with parental consent.²⁴¹ In 2019, HB 1883 was introduced with the goal to eliminate all child marriage under the age of eighteen.²⁴² On January 13, 2020, the bill was reintroduced and retained in its present status; it remains in committee.²⁴³

West Virginia

In West Virginia, children may marry as young as sixteen with parental consent and even younger with parental *and* judicial consent, provided the court determines the marriage to be in the "best interests" of the child.²⁴⁴ If a child is married in West Virginia without the necessary parental consent or court approval, the marriage is not automatically void. Instead, it must be annulled to be deemed invalid.²⁴⁵ If a minor who did not receive the necessary parental consent or court approval is married and reaches his or her eighteenth birthday, then the marriage may be automatically ratified by a "voluntary" act, such as cohabitation.²⁴⁶ Between 2000 and 2014, 3,270

children were married in West Virginia; approximately 63 of every 10,000 people were married as children.²⁴⁷ Until the West Virginia legislature takes action, child marriage will persist.

Wyoming

Wyoming's marriage laws allow sixteen and seventeen-year-olds to marry with parental consent, and they allow children under sixteen to marry if both judicial approval and parental consent are provided.²⁴⁸ In January 2019, HB60 was introduced to prohibit marriage under eighteen entirely, but it subsequently failed.²⁴⁹ No further legislation is under consideration.

Washington D.C.

In the District of Columbia, children sixteen and older can marry provided their parent provides consent.²⁵⁰ Marriages under the age of consent, sixteen, are illegal.²⁵¹ There is no pending legislation to address the issue further.

C. Child Marriage Laws in U.S. Territories

American Samoa

In 2018, Governor of American Samoa Lolo Matalasi Moliga signed into law a bill that raised the marital age for girls to eighteen.²⁵² Previously, girls were permitted to marry as young as fourteen under a law from the early 1960s.²⁵³ At the same time, the marital age for boys was eighteen.²⁵⁴ In September 2018, the age became eighteen for both, and American Samoa became the third U.S. state or territory to ban child marriage, after Delaware and New Jersey banned the practice in June 2018. Data on child marriage prior to the ban is unavailable.

Guam & Northern Marina Islands

The law in Guam permits children over sixteen to marry, provided a parent or guardian submits written consent.²⁵⁵ In the Northern Mariana Islands, boys may not marry under age eighteen, but girls may marry at sixteen if at least one parent or guardian provides notarized consent.²⁵⁶ No further legislative action has been taken in either locality. Data regarding child marriage in Guam and the Northern Mariana Islands is needed.

Puerto Rico

Under Puerto Rico law, those under age twenty-one require consent of their parent or guardian to marry. However, eighteen-year-olds do not need parental or judicial authorization in cases where "it is proven that the betrothed woman has been raped, seduced or is pregnant." Males under eighteen and females under sixteen cannot provide their consent for marriage, but, in the event that a marriage is entered into, that marriage will be deemed valid if "one day after having arrived at the legal age of puberty" the parties lived together without anyone having brought suit

against the validity of the marriage or if the female conceived prior to the age of puberty or before a validity challenge has been filed.²⁵⁹ Girls between fourteen and sixteen and boys between sixteen and eighteen can be married, provided their parent or guardian, or the court, provide their consent to the marriage.²⁶⁰ If passed, HR4867, the 'Child Marriage Prevention Act' introduced in January 2018, will apply to Puerto Rico. The bill indicated that "No State shall be required to give effect to any public act, record, or judicial proceeding of any other State respecting a relationship where one or both persons are below the marriage age," but the bill was referred to the Constitution and Civil Justice subcommittee and has seen no further action.²⁶¹

U.S. Virgin Islands

In December 2019, the legislature in the Virgin Islands voted unanimously on bill #33-0109 to end child marriage entirely in the territory. Governor Bryan signed the bill into law on January 18, 2020, making the Virgin Islands the fourth state or territory of the United States to entirely ban child marriage. Previously, the law in the Virgin Islands did not permit marriage for girls under age fourteen and boys under age sixteen. However, girls over fourteen and boys over sixteen were still permitted to be married, provided their father consented (or their mother consented, if the father was absent; or a guardian consented, if both mother and father are absent). The bill closed this loophole, which also permitted perpetrators of sexual abuse to avoid statutory rape charges by marrying their victims.

III. Conclusion

While many people cling to the flawed assumption that child marriage is not an American issue, the marriage of children occurs every day throughout the United States. A collection of states and territories have passed new laws to limit the prevalence of the issue, but these laws need to be more comprehensive and all jurisdictions need to adopt them. Mandatory age floors at eighteen (with no difference in rules based on gender), proof of age requirements, residency requirements, and the elimination of parental and judicial consent exceptions are all crucial to ensure child protection. Ultimately, a federal law banning marriage under the age of eighteen without exception will be the most effective way to thwart child marriage nationally and truly protect children.

¹ M.K. Hopkins, *The Age of Roman Girls at Marriage*, POPULATION STUDIES, 313 (March 1965), at https://www-jstor-org.proxy.library.upenn.edu/stable/2173291.

² Vivian E. Hamilton, *The Age of Marital Capacity: Reconsidering Civil Recognition of Adolescent Marriage*, 92 B.U. L. REV. 1817, 1824 (2012).

³ *Ibid*.

⁴ *Id*.

⁵ *Id.* at 1827.

⁶ *Id*.

⁷ Age of Majority: Definition and Significance, LAW OFFICES OF STIMMEL, & ROESER (Last visited February 2020), https://www.stimmel-law.com/en/articles/age-majority-definition-and-significance

⁸ Hamilton at 1828.

⁹ *Id.* at 1829.

¹⁰ Id. at 1832.

¹¹ Child Marriage Around the World, GIRLS NOT BRIDES (last visited February 14, 2019), https://www.girlsnotbrides.org/where-does-it-happen/; see also UNICEF, Ending Child Marriage: Progress and Prospects, 2014; An Information Sheet: Child Marriage Around the World, GIRLS NOT BRIDES, 1 (November 23, 2016), https://www.girlsnotbrides.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Child-marriage-around-the-world-Nov-2016.pdf.

¹² Girls Not Brides, *supra* note 11; *see also* UNICEF, Progress for Children: A Report Card on Adolescents (2012), https://www.unicef.org/publications/files/Progress for Children - No. 10 EN 04232012.pdf (hereinafter "UNICEF").

¹³ Helen Wylie, *Fast Facts: 10 facts illustrating why we must #EndChildMarriage*, UNICEF (February 11, 2019). https://www.unicef.org/eca/press-releases/fast-facts-10-facts-illustrating-why-we-must-endchildmarriage

¹⁴ Colleen Murray Gastón, Christina Misunas, and Claudia Cappa, *Child marriage among boys: a global overview of available data*, 14 VULNERABLE CHILD. & YOUTH STUDIES 219, 221 (2019), https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/17450128.2019.1566584

¹⁵ Helen Wylie, *115 million boys and men around the world married as children – UNICEF*, UNICEF (June 6, 2019). https://www.unicef.org/press-releases/115-million-boys-and-men-around-world-married-children-unicef

¹⁶ Anjali Tsui and Chris Amico, *Child Marriage in America By the Numbers*, PBS FRONTLINE (July 6, 2018), http://apps.frontline.org/child-marriage-by-the-numbers/ (hereinafter "Tsui"); *see also* Sarah Ferguson, *What You Need to Know About Child Marriage in the U.S.*, FORBES (October 29, 2018), https://www.forbes.com/sites/unicefusa/2018/10/29/what-you-need-to-know-about-child-marriage-in-the-us-1/#6bbeeb885689 (hereinafter "Ferguson").

¹⁷ Yan Le Strat, Caroline Dubertret, and Bernard Le Foll, *Child Marriage in the United States and Its Association With Mental Health in Women*, 128 PEDIATRICS 524, 526 (2011), http://www.pediatrics.org/cgi/doi/10.1542/peds.2011-0961.

¹⁸ Why Does Child Marriage Happen?, GIRLS NOT BRIDES (last visited February 20, 2019) https://www.girlsnotbrides.org/why-does-it-happen/.

¹⁹ *Ibid*.

²⁰ Id.

²¹ *Id*.

²² Id.

²³ *Id*.

- ²⁴ *Id.*, at 11; *see also*, United Nations Population Fund, *Motherhood in Childhood: Facing the Challenge of Adolescent Pregnancy* (Richard Kollodge et al., 2013), https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/EN-SWOP2013-final.pdf (hereinafter "United Nations Population Fund").
- ²⁵ Adolescents: Health Risks and Solutions, WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (December 2018), at https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/adolescents-health-risks-and-solutions.
- ²⁶ United Nations Population Fund at 19.
- ²⁷ Anju Malhotra, *The Causes, Consequences and Solution to Forced Child Marriage in the Developing World*, INT'L CTR. FOR RES. ON WOMEN, (July 15, 2010), https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=3&ved=2ahUKEwiGlKiE7bzgAhVj1lkKH

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=3&ved=2ahUKEwiGlKiE7bzgAhVj1lkKHUcyDTQQFjACegQIAhAC&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.icrw.org%2Ffiles%2Fimages%2FCauses-Consequences-and%2520Solutions-to-Forced-Child-Marriage-Anju-Malhotra-7-15-2010.pdf&usg=AOvVaw1Ko-RrHc0XtTm83vCW1HDa (hereinafter "Malhotra").

²⁸ Ibid.

²⁹ *Id*.

- ³⁰ International Center for Research on Women (ICRW). *Development Initiative on Supporting Healthy Adolescents* (*DISHA*) project: Analysis of quantitative baseline survey data conducted in 2004. ICRW: WASHINGTON, DC., (2005).
- ³¹ United Nations Population Fund at 22.
- ³² Quentin Wodon, et al., *Economic Impacts of Child Marriage: Global Synthesis Report*, WASHINGTON DC: THE WORLD BANK AND INTERNATIONAL CENTER FOR RESEARCH ON WOMEN, at 53 (2017), https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/EICM-Global-Conference-Edition-June-27-FINAL.pdf.
- ³³ Quentin Wodon and Suzanne Petroni, *The Rippling Economic Impacts of Child Marriage*, THE WORLD BANK (June 27, 2017), https://blogs.worldbank.org/education/rippling-economic-impacts-child-marriage.
- ³⁴ Wodon et al., *supra* note 32, at 54.
- ³⁵ Wodon and Petroni, *supra* note 33.
- ³⁶ Ellen Travers, *Costs of Child Marriage: What Does the World Research Say?*, GIRLS NOT BRIDES (last visited Feb. 14, 2019), https://www.girlsnotbrides.org/costs-child-marriage-world-bank-research-say/
- ³⁷ United Nations, *Convention on the Rights of the Child* (1989), https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/crc.aspx.
- ³⁸ United Nations, *Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women* (1979), https://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/.
- ³⁹ Child Marriage Frequently Asked Questions, UNFPA (Feb. 2018), https://www.unfpa.org/child-marriage-frequently-asked-questions#are%20boys%20ever%20involved%20in%20child%20marriages.
- ⁴⁰ Rangita de Silva de Alwis, *Old Challenges in New Law Reform on Child Marriage: "Examining the Best Interests of the Child" in Recent Law Revisions in Bangladesh and Zimbabwe, Making Laws, Breaking Silence: Case Studies from the Field, in Making Laws, Breaking Silence: Case Studies From the Field, in Making Laws, Breaking Silence: Case Studies From the Field 43, 44 (Rangita de Silva de Alwis ed., 2018) (hereinafter "de Silva de Alwis").*
- ⁴¹ United Nations, *Child, Early and Forced Marriage, Including in Humanitarian Settings*, OFFICE OF THE UNITED NATIONS HIGH COMMISSIONER FOR HUMAN RIGHTS, https://www.ohchr.org/en/issues/women/wrgs/pages/childmarriage.aspx; *see also* Hamilton, *supra* note 2.
- ⁴² United Nations, *Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 18 December 2014: 69/156. Child, early and forced marriage* (December 2014), https://www.un.org/g3@earch/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/69/156; United

Nations, Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 19 December 2016: 71/175. Child, early and forced marriage (December 2016),

https://www.un.org/en/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/71/175&referer=http://www.un.org/en/ga/71/resolutions.shtml&Lang=E; United Nations, *Promotion and protection of the rights of children: Child, early and forced marriage* (November 2018), https://undocs.org/A/C.3/73/L.22/Rev.1.

- ⁴³ *Child Marriage and the Law*, GIRLS NOT BRIDES (last visited February 24 2020), https://www.girlsnotbrides.org/child-marriage-law/.
- ⁴⁴ *Ibid*.
- ⁴⁵ *Child Marriage-Frequently Asked Questions*, UNITED NATIONS POPULATION FUND (February 2018), https://www.unfpa.org/child-marriage-frequently-asked-questions#is%20it%20insensitive.
- ⁴⁶ Aleksandra Sandstrom and Angelina E. Theodorou, *Many countries allow child marriage*, PEW RESEARCH CENTER (September 2016), https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2016/09/12/many-countries-allow-child-marriage/.
- ⁴⁷ Leave Us Kids Alone: A Look at Child Marriage in the US and Beyond, IRISH EXAMINER (December 2018), https://www.irishexaminer.com/breakingnews/specialreports/leave-us-kids-alone-a-look-at-child-marriage-in-the-us-and-beyond-892211.html.
- ⁴⁸ Child Marriage— Shocking Statistics, UNCHAINED AT LAST (Last visited February 25, 2020), http://www.unchainedatlast.org/child-marriage-shocking-statistics/.
- ⁴⁹ A PBS Frontline study found records that children as young as 12 were permitted to marry in Alaska, Louisiana, and South Carolina and children as young as 13 were permitted to marry in Alabama, Florida, Idaho, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, Missouri, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, and Washington. *See* Tsui, *supra* note 16.
- ⁵⁰ Falling Through the Cracks: How Laws Allow Child Marriage to Happen in Today's America, TAHIRIH JUSTICE CENTER, 3, (August 2017), https://www.tahirih.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/TahirihChildMarriageReport-1.pdf (hereinafter "Tahirih")
- ⁵¹ *Ibid*.
- ⁵² *Id*.
- ⁵³ *Id*. at 4.
- ⁵⁴ *Id*.
- ⁵⁵ South Sudan and Somalia are the only other two countries that, like the United States, have not signed onto both treaties. *See* Sophie McBain, *Why is the US so reluctant to sign human rights treaties?* NEW STATESMAN AMERICA (October 7, 2013), https://www.newstatesman.com/north-america/2013/10/why-us-so-reluctant-sign-human-rights-treaties.
- ⁵⁶ A Fact Sheet on CEDAW: Treaty for the Rights of Women, AMNESTY INTERNATIONAL (August 25, 2005), https://www.amnestyusa.org/files/pdfs/cedaw_fact_sheet.pdf.
- ⁵⁷ Ferguson, *supra* note 16.
- ⁵⁸ Child Marriage Legislation, UNCHAINED AT LAST, http://www.unchainedatlast.org/laws-to-end-child-marriage/.
- ⁵⁹ Eric Adler, *Missouri is a destination wedding spot—for 15-year-old brides*, THE KANSAS CITY STAR (March 11, 2018), https://www.kansascity.com/news/state/missouri/article204287484.html.
- ⁶⁰ Tahirih at 6.
- ⁶¹ *Ibid* at 8.
- ⁶² *Id.* at 10.

```
<sup>63</sup> Id. at 11.
```

- ⁷³ Census Regions and Divisions of the United States, U.S. CENSUS BUREAU (2000), https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Census_Regions_and_Division_of_the_United_States.svg.
- ⁷⁴ Daniele Selby, *Arizona Just Signed a Bill to Prevent Child Marriage Under 16*, GLOBAL CITIZEN (Apr. 13, 2018), https://www.globalcitizen.org/en/content/arizona-child-marriage-bill-under-16/.

⁶⁴ *Id.* at 14.

⁶⁵ Id.

⁶⁶ Christopher Harress, *Child Marriage is Still Legal in Alabama, but on the Decline*, ALABAMA.COM (Aug. 9, 2017), https://www.al.com/news/index.ssf/2017/08/child_marriage_is_still_legal.html; *see also*, Tsui, *supra* note 15.

⁶⁷ *Id.*; David McClendon and Aleksandra Sandstrom, *Child Marriage is Rare in the U.S.*, *Though This Varies by State*, PEW RESEARCH CENTER (Nov. 1, 2016), http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2016/11/01/child-marriage-is-rare-in-the-u-s-though-this-varies-by-state/ (hereinafter "McClendon").

⁶⁸ Ala. Code § 30-1-4, Ala. Code § 30-1-5.

⁶⁹ Alaska Stat. Ann. § 25.05.171.

⁷⁰ *Ibid*.

⁷¹ Richard Mauer, *Lawmaker wants to raise Alaska's age for marriage*, KTUU.COM (last updated Jan. 9, 2018, 11:28 AM), https://www.ktuu.com/content/news/Lawmakers-wants-to-raise-Alaskas-age-for-marriage-468100033.html.

⁷² HB 310, 30th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Alaska 2018).

⁷⁵ ARIZ. REV. STAT. ANN. § 25-102.

⁷⁶ ARIZ. REV. STAT. ANN. § 25-102 (1974).

⁷⁷ Shelby Rose, *Governor signs law banning child marriage in Arkansas*, ABC7 (APR. 17, 2019), https://katv.com/news/local/governor-signs-law-banning-child-marriage-in-arkansas.

⁷⁸ ARK. CODE ANN. § 9-11-102.

⁷⁹ *Ibid*.

⁸⁰ ARK. CODE ANN. § 9-11-103.

⁸¹ *Ibid*.

⁸² Dartunorro Clark, 'Wide-open potential for abuse': States are ground zero in the fight against child marriage, NBC NEWS (Apr. 1, 2019), https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/politics-news/wide-open-potential-abuse-states-are-ground-zero-fight-against-n988496.

⁸³ CAL. FAM. CODE § 302.

⁸⁴ *Ibid.*, see also, CAL. FAM. CODE § 304.

⁸⁵ COLO. REV. STAT. ANN. § 14-2-106.

⁸⁶ Joe St. George, *Marriage is allowed at any age in Colorado; new bill would implement minimum age*, Fox 31 NEWS (Apr. 3, 2019, 5:07 PM), https://kdvr.com/2019/03/29/marriage-is-allowed-at-any-age-in-colorado-new-bill-would-implement-minimum-age/.

⁸⁷ HB 1316, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Colo. 2019).

⁸⁸ HB 1251, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Colo. 2019).

⁸⁹ CONN. GEN. STAT. ANN. § 46b-20a(b) (2017).

⁹⁰ CONN. GEN. STAT. ANN. § 46b-30 (Repealed).

⁹¹ *Ibid*.

- ⁹² Falling Through the Cracks: How Laws Allow Child Marriage to Happen in Today's America, TAHIRIH JUSTICE CENTER, at 10 (Aug. 2017), https://www.tahirih.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/TahirihChildMarriageReport-1.pdf
 ⁹³ CONN. GEN. STAT. ANN. § 46b-20a(b) (2017); Falling Through the Cracks, supra note 92.
- ⁹⁴ Nalia Amin Testimony in Support of HB5442, Presented to Connecticut Joint Committee on Judiciary (March 6, 2017) https://www.cga.ct.gov/2017/JUDdata/Tmy/2017HB-05442-R000306-Amin,%20Naila-TMY.PDF.
- see also, Talia Soglin, *Minimum Marriage Age Takes Effect*, YALE DAILY NEWS (Oct. 4, 2017) https://yaledailynews.com/blog/2017/10/04/minimum-marriage-age-takes-effect/.
- 95 H.R. 5442, 2017 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Conn. 2017).
- 96 SB 346, 2019 Gen. Assem., Reg. Sess. (Conn. 2019).
- ⁹⁷ DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 13 § 123; see also Bethlehem Feleke, *Delaware becomes first state to fully ban child marriage*, CNN (May 12, 2018), https://www.cnn.com/2018/05/12/us/delaware-child-marriage-ban/index.html.
- 98 DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 13 § 123 (2007).
- ⁹⁹ FLA. STAT. ANN. § 741.04(1).
- ¹⁰⁰ SB 140, 2018 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Fla. 2018).
- ¹⁰¹ Jacob Ogles, *Is Florida law template for stopping child marriages?*, FLORIDA POLITICS (Apr. 25, 2019), https://floridapolitics.com/archives/294769-is-florida-law-template-for-stopping-child-marriages.
- ¹⁰² GA. CODE ANN. § 19-3-2 (2006).
- ¹⁰³ HB 228, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Ga. 2019); *see also* Mark Niesse, *Georgia Senate votes to end child marriages under 17*, AJC NEWS (Mar. 28, 2019), https://www.ajc.com/news/state--regional-govt--politics/georgia-senate-votes-end-child-marriages-under-age/N52CtWrx6g6QqL6GknquLM/#.
- ¹⁰⁴ GA. CODE ANN. § 19-3-2.
- ¹⁰⁵ *Id*.
- ¹⁰⁶ HAW. REV. STAT. ANN. § 572-1.
- 107 Ibid., see also HAW, REV, STAT, ANN. § 572-2.
- ¹⁰⁸ SB 419, 30th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Haw. 2019); HB 790, 30th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Haw. 2019).
- ¹⁰⁹ Idaho Code Ann. § 32-202.
- ¹¹⁰ *Ibid*.
- ¹¹¹ HB 98, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Idaho 2019).
- ¹¹² Gemma Gaudette, *An Update On Child Marriage In Idaho*, BOISE STATE PUBLIC RADIO (Aug. 15, 2019), https://www.boisestatepublicradio.org/post/update-child-marriage-idaho#stream/0.
- ¹¹³ 750 Ill. Comp. Stat. Ann. 5/203.
- ¹¹⁴ HR 4867, 115th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Ill. 2018); see also Rush Introduces the "Child Marriage Prevention Act", RUSH.HOUSE.GOV (July 19, 2018), https://rush.house.gov/media-center/press-releases/rush-introduces-the-child-marriage-prevention-act.
- 115 Last amended IND. CODE ANN. § 31-11-1-5.
- ¹¹⁶ Ind. Code Ann. § 31-11-1-5.
- ¹¹⁷ Ind. Code Ann. § 31-11-1-6.
- ¹¹⁸ IOWA CODE ANN. § 595.2 2018.
- ¹¹⁹ *Ibid*.
- ¹²⁰ *Ibid*.
- ¹²¹ *Ibid*.
- ¹²² KAN. STAT. ANN. § 23-2505.
- ¹²³ *Ibid*.
- ¹²⁴ SB 48, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Ky. 2018).

- ¹²⁵ *Ibid*.
- 126 Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 402.210; 402.020(1)(f).
- ¹²⁷ LA. CHILD. CODE ANN. art. 1545 (1991); art. 1547 (1991).
- ¹²⁸ SB 463, 2018 Leg., Reg. Sess. (La. 2018).
- ¹²⁹ Mark Ballard, Louisiana to ban marriage for children 16 and under after lawmakers agree to hotly contested bill, ADVOCATE 2019).

https://www.theadvocate.com/baton_rouge/news/politics/legislature/article_810bc23c-88ab-11e9-9f26-935a2cd17062.html.

- ¹³⁰ LA, CHILD, CODE ANN, art. 1545; art. 1547. See also SB 172, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (La. 2019).
- ¹³¹ ME. REV. STAT. TIT. 19-A, § 652.
- ¹³² *Ibid*.
- ¹³³ Falling Through the Cracks, supra note 92.
- ¹³⁴ Stephanie Cajigal, Child Marriage Occurs in the US and Threatens the Well-Being of Girls and Boys Nationwide, Researchers Report, UCLA FIELDING SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH (Apr. 17, 2018), https://ph.ucla.edu/uclachildmarriage.
- ¹³⁵ SB 545, 129th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Me. 2019).
- ¹³⁶ LD 545, 129th Leg. Reg. Sess. (Me. 2019).
- ¹³⁷ ME. REV. STAT. TIT. 19-A, §652(8); see also, SP 167, 129th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Me. 2019), https://legislature.maine.gov/legis/bills/display ps.asp?paper=SP0167&PID=undefined&snum=129&sec0
- ¹³⁸ HB1147, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Md. 2019); Selene San Felice, As minimum marriage age bill fails in Maryland, CAPITAL GAZETTE married minors speak for themselves, 12. https://www.capitalgazette.com/lifestyles/ac-cn-married-minors-0420-storv.html.
- ¹³⁹ MD. CODE ANN., Fam. Law § 2-301.
- ¹⁴⁰ MASS, GEN, LAWS ANN, ch. 207, § 25.
- ¹⁴¹ *Ibid*.
- ¹⁴² Rachael Revesz, Massachusetts: The US state where there is no minimum age to get married, INDEPENDENT (Aug. 24, 2016), https://www.independent.co.uk/news/world/americas/massachusetts-marriage-age-laws-child-marriedunderage-a7207486.html (hereinafter "Revesz").
- ¹⁴³ Jim Morrison, Advocates Raise Concerns About Child Marriage in Mass., BOSTON GLOBE (Aug. 10, 2016) https://www.bostonglobe.com/metro/2016/08/10/advocates-raise-concerns-about-childmarriage/sx4TQNbXp4gimy502yWB4L/story.html.
- ¹⁴⁴ Revesz, *supra* note 142.
- ¹⁴⁵ Prithyi G, Tikhe, Sen. Harriette Chandler Pushing to End Child Marriages in Massachusetts, TELEGRAM (Oct. 7. https://www.telegram.com/news/20181007/sen-harriette-chandler-pushing-to-end-child-marriages-in-2018), massachusetts.
- ¹⁴⁶ *Ibid*.
- ¹⁴⁷ *Ibid*.
- ¹⁴⁸ S 2294, 191st Leg., Reg. Sess., (Mass. 2019).
- ¹⁴⁹ McClendon, *supra* note 67.
- ¹⁵⁰ MICH. COMP. LAWS ANN. § 551.103.
- ¹⁵¹ MICH. COMP. LAWS ANN. § 551.51.
- ¹⁵² SB 1255; 1256, 99th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Mich. 2018).
- ¹⁵³ HB 4003, 4004, 4005, 100th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Mich. 2019).
- ¹⁵⁴ MINN. STAT. ANN. § 517.02.
- 155 Release: Rep. Kaohly Her's Bill to End Child Marriages Receives First Public Hearing, MINN. HOUSE OF REP. (Feb. 12, 2019), https://www.house.leg.state.mn.us/members/profile/news/15532/23548.

- ¹⁵⁶ HF 745, 91st Leg., Reg. Sess. (Minn. 2019).
- ¹⁵⁷ MISS. CODE. ANN. § 93-1-5.
- 158 Ibid.
- ¹⁵⁹ Eric Adler, *Missouri governor signs law banning marriage of 15-year-olds*, KANSASCITY.COM (Jul. 13, 2018, 2:30PM), https://www.kansascity.com/news/politics-government/article214840670.html.
- ¹⁶⁰ Mo. REV. STAT. § 451.090 (2018).
- ¹⁶¹ Eric Adler, *Missouri is a Destination Wedding Spot for 15-Year-Old Brides*, KANSASCITY.COM (Mar. 11, 2018) https://www.kansascity.com/news/state/missouri/article204287484.html.
- ¹⁶² Eric Adler, *Hundreds of Missouri's 15-year-old brides may have married their rapists*, KANSAS CITY.COM (Jan. 2, 2019), https://www.kansascity.com/news/state/missouri/article204292464.html; see also, Jack Suntrup, *Missouri is Known as a Haven for Child Marriages*. A New Law Aims to Change That, St. Louis Post—Dispatch (Jul. 13, 2018), https://www.stltoday.com/news/local/crime-and-courts/missouri-is-known-as-a-haven-for-child-marriages-a/article-baf82d1e-82f8-50d1-817a-f87ea3fe836e.html.
- ¹⁶³ Jack Suntrup, *Missouri is Known as a Haven for Child Marriages*. *A New Law Aims to Change That*, St. LOUIS POST—DISPATCH (July 13, 2018), https://www.stltoday.com/news/local/crime-and-courts/missouri-is-known-as-a-haven-for-child-marriages-a/article_baf82d1e-82f8-50d1-817a-f87ea3fe836e.html.
- ¹⁶⁴ Mont. Code Ann. § 40-1-202, Mont. Code Ann. § 40-1-213.
- ¹⁶⁵ HB 533, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Mont. 2019).
- ¹⁶⁶ McClendon, *supra* note 67.
- ¹⁶⁷ Neb. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 42-102; Neb. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 42-105.
- ¹⁶⁸ Neb. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 43-2101.
- 169 Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. \S 122.020, Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. \S 122.025; Colo. Rev. Stat. Ann. \S 14-2-106; N.M. Stat. Ann. \S 40-1-6.
- ¹⁷⁰ NEV. REV. STAT. ANN. § 122.025; AB 139, 80th Sess., Gen. Assem. (Nev. 2019).
- ¹⁷¹ Protect Nevada Children from Forced Marriage, AMERICAN ATHIESTS (Apr. 11, 2019), https://www.atheists.org/2019/04/forced-marriage-nevada/.
- ¹⁷² N.H. REV. STAT. § 457:4.
- ¹⁷³ N.H. Rev. Stat. § 457:4 (2009); Rebecca Beitsch, *New Hampshire Raises Age for Children to Marry*, PEW CHARITABLE TRUSTS (June 20, 2018) https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/blogs/stateline/2018/06/20/new-hampshire-raises-age-for-children-to-marry.
- ¹⁷⁴ Beitsch, *supra* note 173.
- ¹⁷⁵ N.H. REV. STAT. § 457:6; *see also* Christopher T. Sununu Letter from Governor Chris Sununu to the House Children and Family Law Committee regarding HB 1586 and 1587 (January 24, 2018), https://www.governor.nh.gov/news-media/press-2018/documents/20180124-hb-1586-1587.pdf.
- HB 378, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (N.H. 2019); see also Kyle Stucker, NH bill to end child marriage set aside, FOSTERS.COM (Mar. 20, 2019), https://www.fosters.com/news/20190320/nh-bill-to-end-child-marriage-set-aside.
- ¹⁷⁷ HB1516, 2020 Leg., Reg. Sess. (N.H. 2020). See more detail at: <a href="http://gencourt.state.nh.us/bill-status/bill-s
- ¹⁷⁸ N.J. STAT. ANN. § 37:1-6; A865, 2018 Leg., Reg. Sess. (N.J. 2019).
- ¹⁷⁹ Had Governor Chris Christie not vetoed the bill in 2017, New Jersey would have been the first state to ban child marriage. Daniele Selby, *New Jersey is the Second State in the US to End Child Marriage*, GLOBAL CITIZEN (June 22, 2018), https://www.globalcitizen.org/en/content/child-marriage-ban-new-jersey/.
- ¹⁸⁰ N.J. STAT. ANN. § 37:1-6 (2013).
- 181 N.M. Stat. Ann. § 40-1-6 (2017).
- ¹⁸² *Ibid*.

- ¹⁸³ US: New York Governor Signs Anti-Child Marriage Law, HUMAN RIGHTS WATCH (June 20, 2017), https://www.hrw.org/news/2017/06/20/us-new-york-governor-signs-anti-child-marriage-law.
- ¹⁸⁴ N.Y. DOM. REL. LAW §§ 15, 15-a; Human Rights Watch, supra note 183.
- ¹⁸⁵ *Ibid*.
- Fraidy Reiss, *America's Child-Marriage Problem*, N.Y. TIMES (Oct. 13, 2015), https://www.nytimes.com/2015/10/14/opinion/americas-child-marriage-problem.html.
- ¹⁸⁷ AB 8447, 2019 Gen. Assemb., Reg. Sess. (NY 2019).
- ¹⁸⁸ N.C. GEN. STAT. ANN. §§ 51-2.1; 51-2.
- ¹⁸⁹ N.C. GEN. STAT. ANN. § 51-2.1.
- ¹⁹⁰ N.D. CENT. CODE ANN. § 14-03-02; McClendon, *supra* note 67.
- ¹⁹¹ N.D. CENT. CODE ANN. § 14-03-02.
- ¹⁹² Laura A. Bischoff, *Ohio to raise marriage age after Dayton Daily News investigation*, DAYTONDAILYNEWS.COM (Jan. 7, 2019), https://www.daytondailynews.com/news/ohio-raise-marriage-age-after-dayton-daily-news-investigation/8WZqMZmdjJq5dNCSEWEPZM/.
- ¹⁹³ Ohio R. of Juv. Proc. R. 42.
- ¹⁹⁴ Ohio Rev. Code § 3101.02.
- ¹⁹⁵ Ohio Rev. Code § 3101.02 (2018).
- 196 Young girls between the ages of fourteen and seventeen married adult men. Fact Sheet: Child Marriage in Ohio, THE OHIO WOMEN'S PUBLIC POLICY NETWORK (Nov. 2017), https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=6&ved=2ahUKEwjK5ur0grrgAhXItVkKH a5qCMUQFjAFegQIChAC&url=http%3A%2F%2Fwomenspublicpolicynetwork.org%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2018%2F01%2FWPPN ChildMarriage Factsheet FINAL.pdf&usg=AOvVaw2cXDJ---zu7kzqb3re5BTo; see also Laura A. Bischoff, Should children be allowed to get married? In Ohio, thousands do, DAYTON DAILY NEWS (Sept. 10, 2017), http://www.mydaytondailynews.com/news/crime--law/should-children-allowed-get-married-ohio-thousands/aku65cwegGyrfl19uRzlSM/.
- ¹⁹⁷ Laura A Bischoff, *Investigation Reveals Kids as Young as 14 are Getting Married in Ohio*, DAYTON DAILY NEWS (Sept. 10, 2017), https://www.daytondailynews.com/news/crime--law/should-children-allowed-get-married-ohio-thousands/aku65cwegGyrflI9uRzlSM/.
- ¹⁹⁸ OKLA. STAT. ANN. TIT. 43, § 3.
- ¹⁹⁹ *Ibid*.
- ²⁰⁰ OR. REV. STAT. ANN. § 106.010; OR. REV. STAT. ANN. § 106.060.
- ²⁰¹ HB 220, 80th Leg. Assemb., Reg. Sess. (Or. 2019); HB 2767, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Or. 2019).
- ²⁰² 23 PA. STAT. AND CONS. STAT. § 1304 (1997).
- ²⁰³ Victoria Hudgins, *State Senators Seek to Raise Minimum Age of Marriage in Pa. to 18*, LEGAL INTELLIGENCE (June 29, 2018), https://www.law.com/thelegalintelligencer/2018/06/29/state-senators-seek-to-raise-minimum-age-of-marriage-in-pa-to-18/?slreturn=20190113155205.
- ²⁰⁴ HB 360, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Pa. 2019); SB 81, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Pa. 2019); see also Doug Gross, Bill to End Child Marriage Passes House In Harrisburg, PATCH.COM (Jun. 6, 2019), https://patch.com/pennsylvania/yardley/warren-bill-end-pa-child-marriage-passes-house.
- ²⁰⁵ SB 81, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Pa. 2019)
- ²⁰⁶ HB360. *supra* note 16. See full history at:
- https://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/billinfo/bill_history.cfm?syear=2019&sind=0&body=H&type=B&bn=360
- ²⁰⁷ SB81, *supra* note 16. See full history at:
- $\underline{https://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/billinfo/bill\ history.cfm?syear=2019\&sind=0\&body=S\&type=B\&bn=81\\$
- ²⁰⁸ 15 R.I. GEN. LAWS ANN. § 15-2-11.

- ²⁰⁹ *Ibid*.
- ²¹⁰ *Ibid*.
- Lauren Sausser, *SC lawmakers will introduce bill to eliminate all marriages under 18 with no exceptions*, THE POST AND COURIER (Jan. 17, 2019), https://www.postandcourier.com/news/sc-lawmakers-will-introduce-bill-to-eliminate-all-marriages-under/article 08d214b4-190d-11e9-9083-8761c72d419f.html.
- ²¹² S.C. CODE ANN. § 20-1-100.
- ²¹³ S.C. CODE ANN. § 20-1-250.
- ²¹⁴ *Ibid.*; S 395, 123rd Sess., Gen. Assem. (S.C. 2019).
- ²¹⁵ Lauren Sausser, *In SC, Pregnant Girls as Young as 12 Can Marry. There've Been 7,000 Child Brides in 20 Years.*, THE POST AND COURIER (June 21, 2018), https://www.postandcourier.com/health/in-sc-pregnant-girls-as-young-as-can-marry-there/article_6a86577c-5cf9-11e8-a6f9-1fe34ede1b02.html.

 ²¹⁶ *Id.*
- ²¹⁷ S.D. CODIFIED LAWS § 25-1-9; McClendon, *supra* note 67.
- Teresa Welsh, 60,000 Children are Married in the U.S., MIAMI HERALD (Nov. 4, 2016) https://www.miamiherald.com/news/nation-world/national/article112647598.html.
- ²¹⁹ HB 2134, 110th Gen. Assemb., Reg. Sess. (Tenn. 2017).
- ²²⁰ TENN. CODE ANN. §§ 36-3-105; 36-3-106.
- ²²¹ Christie Renick, Falling Through the Cracks: New Report on Child Marriage in America, THE CHRONICLE OF SOCIAL CHANGE (Aug. 29, 2017), https://chronicleofsocialchange.org/research-related/falling-through-the-cracks-new-report-on-child-marriage-in-america (hereinafter "Renick"); see also, Barbara Howard, How Child Marriage Puts Girls at Risk, WGBH NEWS (May 11, 2017), https://www.wgbh.org/news/2017/05/11/local-news/how-underage-marriage-puts-girls-risk (hereinafter "Howard").
- ²²² Renick, *supra* note 221; *see also, Former child bride advocating to raise Indiana's minimum age to marry from 15*, WDRB NEWS (Feb. 21, 2019), https://www.wdrb.com/news/former-child-bride-advocating-to-raise-indiana-s-minimum-age/article-8d59fdc2-360a-11e9-b402-939db09e5b4d.html; *see also* Howard, *supra* note 211.
- Renick, supra note 221; see also Howard, supra note 211.
- ²²⁴ Howard, *supra* note 211.
- ²²⁵ TEX. CODE ANN. § 2.101; SB 1705, 85th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Tex. 2017).
- ²²⁶ SB 1705, 85th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Tex. 2017).
- ²²⁷ TEX. CODE ANN. §§ 2.102; 2.103 (repealed by Acts 2017, 85th Leg., Ch. 934 (SB1705)).
- ²²⁸ UTAH CODE ANN. § 30-1-9.
- ²²⁹ Emily Davies, *Utah Men Married Each Other's 7 and 8-Year-Old Daughters—as One is Sentenced to Prison*, PEOPLE (June 29, 2018) https://people.com/crime/utah-men-married-each-others-daughters-cult-leader-sentenced/.
 https://people.com/crime/utah-men-married-each-others-daughters-cult-leader-sentenced/.
 https://people.com/crime/utah-men-married-each-others-daughters-cult-leader-sentenced/.
- ²³¹ John Bacon, *Utah Cult Leader who Wanted to Have Kids with 8-Year-Old 'Bride' Sentenced to 15 Years*, USA TODAY (June 28, 2018), https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/nation/2018/06/28/utah-cult-leader-wanted-have-family-girl-sentenced-15-years/741792002/.
- ²³² UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 30-1-2, 30-1-9; HB 234, 2019 Gen. Sess. (Utah 2019).
- ²³³ Vt. Stat. Ann. tit. 18, § 5142.
- ²³⁴ *Ibid*.
- ²³⁵ McClendon, *supra* note 67.
- ²³⁶ Child Marriage Policy Brief, VT. COMM. ON WOMEN at 2 (Sept. 2017).
- ²³⁷ Reid Wilson, *New Momentum Seen in Legislative Fight to Ban Child Marriage*, THE HILL (Mar. 19, 2018), https://thehill.com/homenews/state-watch/379135-new-momentum-seen-in-legislative-fight-to-ban-child-marriage. ²³⁸ H790, 2018 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Vt. 2018).
- ²³⁹ See VA. CODE. ANN. § 20-48 (1989).
- 500 (11 COSE(11 (11 § 20 10 (1707))
- ²⁴⁰ See Va. Code Ann. §§ 20-45.1, 20-48, 16.1-331; H 703, 2016 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Va. 2016).

- ²⁴¹ WASH. REV. CODE ANN. § 26.04.010.
- ²⁴² HB 1883, 66th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2019).
- ²⁴³ See, https://app.leg.wa.gov/billsummary?BillNumber=1883&Year=2019
- ²⁴⁴ W. VA. CODE ANN. § 48-2-301.
- ²⁴⁵ *Ibid*.
- ²⁴⁶ *Ibid*.
- ²⁴⁷ Anjali Tsui, Dan Nolan, Chris Amico, *Child Marriage in America: By the Numbers: West Virginia*, PBS (Jul. 6, 2017), http://apps.frontline.org/child-marriage-by-the-numbers/#west-virginia.
- ²⁴⁸ Wyo. Stat. Ann. § 20-1-102.
- ²⁴⁹ HB60, 2019 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wy. 2019).
- ²⁵⁰ D.C. CODE ANN. § 46-403.
- ²⁵¹ D.C. CODE ANN. § 46-411.
- ²⁵² Radio New Zealand Editors, *Governor Moliga signs into law bill to increase marriage age for girls*, RNZ (Sept. 12, 2018), https://www.rnz.co.nz/international/pacific-news/366260/governor-moliga-signs-into-law-bill-to-increase-marriage-age-for-girls
- ²⁵³ *Ibid*.
- ²⁵⁴ Radio New Zealand Editors, *Fight to ban child brides in American Samoa not over*, RNZ (April 3, 2018), https://www.rnz.co.nz/international/pacific-news/353958/fight-to-ban-child-brides-in-american-samoa-not-over
- ²⁵⁵ 19 G.C.A. §3102 (2019).
- ²⁵⁶ See generally, Application Requirements For Marriage License §6, available at: https://web.archive.org/web/20180919132343/http://www.saipanmayor.net/resources/files/MOS%20UPDATED%2 https://www.saipanmayor.net/resources/files/MOS%20UPDATED%2 https://www.saipanmayor.net/resources/files/MOS%20UPDATED%2</a
- ²⁵⁷ 31 L.P.R.A. §242
- ²⁵⁸ *Ibid*.
- ²⁵⁹ 31 L.P.R.A. §232
- ²⁶⁰ *Ibid*.
- ²⁶¹ Child Marriage Prevention Act, *supra* note 114.
- ²⁶² Alexandra Boyer Coffey, *12/19/2019 The U.S. Virgin Islands are THIS close to ending child marriage*, UNCHAINED AT LAST (Dec. 20, 2019), https://www.unchainedatlast.org/12-19-2019-the-u-s-virgin-islands-are-ending-child-marriage/
- ²⁶³ See, http://legvi.org:82/Detail.aspx?docentry=27003
- ²⁶⁴ 16 V.I.C. §2(4) (2019).
- ²⁶⁵ 16 V.I.C. §36 (2019).
- ²⁶⁶ Bethany Lee, *Senate Panel Oks Bill to Shut Teen Marriage Loophole*, THE ST. CROIX SOURCE (Oct. 30, 2019), https://stcroixsource.com/2019/10/30/senate-panel-oks-bill-to-shut-teen-marriage-loophole/